Supreme Court No. <u>90976-8</u>

Court of Appeals No. 70529-6-I

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

BRIAN LONG, Petitioner

v.

BRUSCO TUG & BARGE, INC., a Washington Corporation; BO BRUSCO and his marital community, Respondents

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER			
II. DECISION FOR REVIEW			
III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 1			
IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE			
A.	Brian Long Was Retaliatorily Fired by Defendant Brusco Tug & Barge (BTB) after He Opposed BTB's Discrimination of Anthony Morgan – an Employee with a Prosthetic Leg		
B.	Erroneous Extrinsic Law That Long Violated Coast Guard Regulations and Maritime Laws By Hiring Morgan, Deprived Long of His Constitutional Right to a Fair Trial7		
C.	The Court of Appeals Decision		
V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED 10			
A.	The Court of Appeals' Decision Conflicts with This Court's Holdings that when Jurors Inject Erroneous Extrinsic Law into Deliberations and Act as Legal Experts, Jury Misconduct Results		
1.			
2.	misconduct13		
2. B.	misconduct		
	 misconduct		

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

<u>Cases</u>

.

Adkins v. Aluminum Co. of Am., 110 Wn.2d 128, 750 P.2d 1257 (1988)14-16
Aluminum Co. of America v. Aetna Cas. & Sur. Co., 140 Wn.2d 517, 998 P.2d 856 (2000)12-13
Bouton-Perkins Lumber Co. v. Huston, 81 Wash. 678, 143 P. 146 (1914)
Breckenridge v. Valley General Hosp., 150 Wn.2d 197, 75 P.3d 944 (2003)16-17
Halverson v. Anderson, 82 Wn.2d 746, 513 P.2d 827 (1973)15-16
Loeffelholz v. C.L.E.A.N., 119 Wn.App. 665, 82 P.3d 1199 (2004)15-16
Richards v. Overlake Hosp. Medical Center, 59 Wn. App. 266, 796 P.2d 737 (1990)12-14, 18
State v. Clausing, 147 Wn.2d 620, 56 P.3d 550 (2002)13-14, 17
<i>State v. Parker</i> , 25 Wash. 405, 65 P. 776 (1901)

Other Authorities

Const. art. 1 § 21	
RAP 13.4(b)(1)	
RAP 13.4(b)(3)-(4)	

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner-Plaintiff Brian Long respectfully requests this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision designated in Part II of this Petition.

II. DECISION FOR REVIEW

Petitioner Long seeks review of a decision by the Court of Appeals, Division I, in the above referenced case which was filed on August 11, 2014. Reconsideration was denied on September 12, 2014. The Court of Appeals Opinion to be reviewed is reproduced in the Appendix to this Petition.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Whether a new trial must be granted in a disability retaliation case under the Washington Law Against Discrimination (WLAD), RCW 49.60 *et seq.*, where jurors inserted outside and erroneous laws to assert that Petitioner Long's opposition to disability discrimination (hiring a deckhand with a perceived disability and opposing his termination) expressly violated Coast Guard and Maritime laws, facts and law not in evidence?

2. Whether the Court of Appeals erred when it failed to follow established Washington Supreme Court cases, which uniformly hold that jury misconduct results when jurors provide false outside law and legal

- 1 -

opinions during deliberations when the trial judge is the only legal expert permitted to instruct the jury on the law?

3. Whether jurors' insertion of erroneous laws and legal opinions into deliberations inheres in the verdict so long as the erroneous laws are based on the jurors' personal backgrounds and supposed knowledge of the law, even when such acts violate the judge's explicit instructions to apply only the law provided by the court?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Brian Long Was Retaliatorily Fired by Defendant Brusco Tug & Barge (BTB) after He Opposed BTB's Discrimination of Anthony Morgan – an Employee with a Prosthetic Leg.

Long's former employer, Brusco Tug & Barge (BTB), provides cargo barging and towboat services. RP 313, 1298-99, 1520. Long was a 14 year employee with a spotless record who began working for BTB in 1995 as a deckhand in at sea, eventually working his way up to becoming an ocean captain. RP 938-44. Long accepted a lesser paying position that allowed him to work out of the Port of Everett (POE) to be close to his young family and so he no longer had to go out to sea. RP 944-49, 958-61, 780-81, 1514-17. He started as a ship assist captain at the POE and eventually earned a promotion to become Port Manager in April 2009. RP 780-81, 944-49, 958-61, 969-70, 1514-17, 1546. As the Port Manager, Long hired Anthony Morgan, based on Morgan's qualifications and prior experience as a deckhand, as well as having seen him perform as a deckhand at BTB. RP 543, 985-90, 2170; Ex. 84. Morgan worked as a deckhand for BTB and performed well, and not a single witness said otherwise. RP 770-76, 991-92, 999-1004. Morgan had no limitations in performing the job, but had a prosthetic below the knee on one leg that in no way impacted his mobility or ability to do the job. RP 986-988, 2170. Given Morgan's performance and experience, Long believed he was the best candidate for the job; his prosthetic was not an issue. RP 989-92, 1041-42; Ex.13.

On September 14, 2009 Morgan had a physical examination. Ex. 15. He returned to work at the POE that day and successfully continued to work as a deckhand. At the physical, Mr. Morgan openly revealed that he had a prosthetic. When upper management learned of the prosthetic, Defendant BTB's HR Manager wrote "[BTB] can't hire someone with a prosthetic leg." Ex. 16. Managers chastised Long, verbally and in writing, for hiring a "physically impaired deckhand," even though this hiring had been approved, and Morgan performed well. RP 993-94, 1051-52; Ex. 16, 26.

Long complained that this was disability discrimination and informed BTB that Morgan performed well and had no impairment that

- 3 -

impacted his job, facts managers admitted at trial. Long pushed to keep Morgan employed. RP 429-34, 993-95, 1057-60; Ex. 26. On September 15, Long received an email from HR and learned that HR and Defendant-CEO Bo Brusco met with lawyers. He was sent an email telling to keep Morgan "aboard" because "if [BTB] let[s] him go for no good reason now that he is actually working, we could open ourselves up for a lawsuit under the 'Americans with Disabilities act (sic)." RP 439-42; Ex. 22. Defendants feared a discrimination lawsuit if they fired Morgan for his prosthetic leg, given that it was a discriminatory reason to fire him. Long believed Morgan would remain employed. Accordingly, on September 15, Morgan was again cleared by BTB management to work on a tug. Long put him to work and Morgan continued to perform well. RP 441-45, 775-76, 995-1004; Ex. 22.

Despite again clearing Morgan to work, BTB ordered Long to send him home pending a second physical. Long encouraged Morgan to be patient. Unfortunately, Long learned that the baseless discrimination was continuing and that BTB never intended to give Morgan another physical. BTB was busy manufacturing "a good reason" knowing that the prosthetic leg was not one. Indeed, on September 16 HR Sabo relayed that CEO Brusco "just doesn't want to use him [Morgan] period." Ex. 33. Brusco's discriminatory animus was reiterated by Long's direct supervisor, Port

- 4 -

Captain Kevin Campbell who stated: "I understand that we are not going use the prosthetic leg guy." Ex. 43. Long was told to fire Morgan and lie about BTB's reason. RP 1054-58; Ex. 33.

Long told management he believed this was discrimination, and would not lie to cover it up, as he was directed. RP 1057-60, 1063-66. When Long informed Morgan that his position was no longer available, and BTB would not give him second physical, Morgan was upset and Long admitted he performed well. Morgan filed a charge of discrimination with the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission ("EEOC") for disability discrimination against BTB on September 21, 2009. RP 2201-02.

When BTB received Morgan's EEOC charge around October 8, 2009, it blamed Long. RP 876-77, 1960. Morgan's Charge directly referenced Long. CEO Brusco and Long's direct Supervisor Campbell were openly "angry" with Long for hiring Morgan. RP 489-90, 523-26,1375. Indeed, just weeks after receiving Morgan's EEOC charge, on October 22, Long's request for a raise was denied. Ex. 47. Long's manager admitted this was because of Morgan's hiring, writing:

He [CEO Brusco] is so pissed about the lawsuit from your recent hire [Anthony Morgan] that I think the timing [of asking for a raise] is not right. RP 1071-73; Ex. 47.

CEO Brusco openly displayed his anger at Long for Morgan's

hiring to the jury, testifying that he began to question Long's judgment for

hiring an employee with a prosthetic leg:

Q. Okay, Isn't it true, sir, that once Mr. Morgan had a prosthetic leg and you learned about it **you began to question Mr. Long's judgment?**

A. Well, certainly I would question his judgment.

Q. You got pretty angry when I asked you about this at your deposition, didn't you?

A. Yeah. And it still bothers me, yes.

RP 1375.

••••

A. At that point in time I questioned the fact that that guy right over there was hired. I ask my manager to take care of that company, to take care of me, to take care of those boats, and take care of the crews on the boats, and he would subject our company to something like that.

Q. And were you pointing to Mr. Long?

A. That's exactly who I'm pointing at.

RP 1388.

On December 21, 2009, within two months of Long learning that

CEO Bo Brusco was "so pissed" about his hiring of Morgan, BTB fired

Long for false reasons. RP 543, 1092-1119; Ex. 47. Long filed suit for the

sole claim of WLAD disability retaliation, and tried the case in King

County Superior Court. CP 1-6, 1747-63.

B. Erroneous Extrinsic Law That Long Violated Coast Guard Regulations and Maritime Laws By Hiring Morgan, Deprived Long of His Constitutional Right to a Fair Trial.

Following a jury verdict, Long discovered jury misconduct. The

jury had inserted false, and prejudicial outside law, violating WPI 1.02

that was read to the jury by the Court. CP 1748.

It also is your duty to accept the law as I explain it to you, regardless of what you personally believe the law is or what you personally think it should be. CP 1748.

Four jurors, Foreman Michael Flory (Juror 6), Drew O'Hara (Juror

1), Michelle Lemire (Juror 2), and Madalyn Mincks (Juror 7), all gave

sworn affidavits stating that Juror 12, David Wlaschin, and Juror 11,

Robert Patterson had inserted false extrinsic law and evidence not before the jury. CP 1680, 1780-1792, 1781 ¶8 Juror 12 gave a speech, reading from notes prepared the night before, outside of the deliberation room and

written on different paper than the Court provided. He refused to be

interrupted, and he authoritatively included several statements about

extrinsic maritime law and Coast Guard regulations. Juror 11 also opined

about the law, backing him up. CP 1788 ¶ 2, 1791 ¶ 3. The speech lasted

about 20-35 minutes. CP 1780-92.

The jurors' insertion of outside law also directly violated the Court's instructions to consider "anything extrinsic or extraneous" and the instruction that required that notebooks be locked in the jury room each night since Juror 12 brought in outside notes. RP 122-23, 257-58, 298-301, 304, 309, 1487.

All four <u>unrebutted</u> declarations confirm that Jurors 12 and 11 made numerous **positive statements of law**, including but not limited to stating:

- "these laws [maritime and Coast Guard laws] simply do not allow people to crew boats and act as Able Bodied Seamen with prosthetics." CP 1788 ¶4.
- "yeah, that breaks Coast Guard law." CP 1781 ¶8.
- "no laws exist[] that would allow a deckhand with a prosthetic leg to be on a boat." CP 1784 ¶7.

BTB could not counter these truthful declarations. CP 1821-87.

The legality of Long's hiring of Morgan was not before the jury and as

such - there were no Coast Guard, or Maritime laws or regulations at issue

in this case. No evidence was presented on this issue. CP 1747-63; RP

377-88. These false statements of law provided Defendants with a

legitimate (but grossly untrue), non-retaliatory reason for firing Long.

According to these jurors, Long negligently hired a deckhand and

therefore violated maritime and Coast Guard laws.

Long moved for a new trial based on jury misconduct, but the motion was denied. CP 1768-79, 1888-1904, 1945-50. The trial court, however, recognized that "a juror may have inserted into the discussions... that Coast Guard regulations would not permit a man with a prosthetic leg to work on a vessel." CP 1949. Despite this the trial court mistakenly concluded that these outside statements of law "only related to the nonissue of whether or not Mr. Morgan was actually discriminated against." The Court failed to weigh the impact on Long's ability to prove motive, causation, and reasonable belief. These were elements in the retaliation instruction that Long had the burden of proving. He also faced an instruction regarding his credibility. CP 1949.

C. The Court of Appeals Decision

Long appealed the trial court's denial of a new trial from a jury trial in King County. The case involved a single claim of WLAD disability retaliation. Long appealed to Division One of the Court of Appeals on the issue of jury misconduct, and that the injection of extrinsic and erroneous maritime laws and Coast Guard regulations into the jury deliberations prejudiced Long's right to a fair trial.

The Court of Appeals misapplied the affidavits, and wrongly stated one juror "at most" stated he was "unaware of any law that would permit a person to work as a deckhand." Opinion at 15-16. The Court incorrectly held that because this was not a positive statement of law there was no misconduct and that the jurors' actions did not conflict with the trial court's instructions to apply only the law that was given to them. Opinion at 15-16.

Although the Court recognized that Juror 12's statements about maritime and Coast Guard laws were "highly specialized" and "uttered in the vein of being an expert" it nevertheless analogized them to cases where jurors used their life experiences to interpret evidence but did not bring in outside law. Based on this inapposite analogy, the Court concluded that the outside statements of law were this juror's "own thought process" and thus inhered in the verdict. Opinion at 16. The Court essentially held that jurors may inject outside law into jury deliberations as long as the juror has gained the legal knowledge from personal experience. Opinion at 15.

Division I denied Long's appeal on August 11, 2014. Opinion. Long's motion for reconsideration was denied on September 12, 2014. Order. This timely petition for review followed.

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

The Court of Appeals erroneously concluded that jurors' injection of maritime and Coast Guard laws into jury deliberations were not jury misconduct. The decision conflicts with Washington Supreme Court cases which uniformly hold that a jurors or witnesses that inject erroneous extrinsic law into a case commit misconduct requiring a new trial. RAP 13.4(b)(1). The opinion allows jurors to violate the court's instructions by inserting outside law when the source of that law is "personal experience," ignoring case law and the jury instruction approved by this Court which demand that jurors follow only the law provided by the trial judge. WPI 1.2.¹ It creates a system where jurors are free to ignore the court's instructions and "their duty to accept the law" as given by the trial judge. It gives attorneys good cause to strike every potential juror with legal experience, especially lawyers and other professionals.

Division I's decision also involves both a significant question of law under the Washington Constitution and is an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. RAP 13.4(b)(3)-(4). The Court's decision undermines the WLAD by validating the worst stereotypes against disabled employees with perceived disabilities by allowing jurors to insert erroneous law to justify this bias. It allowed jurors to inject outside maritime and Coast Guard laws into the case severely prejudicing Long and denying him his constitutional right to

¹ Washington Pattern Instruction ("WPI") 1.02 ("It also is your duty to accept the law as I explain it to you, **regardless of what you personally believe the law is or what you personally think it should be.**"); CP 1748.

a fair trial. Jurors inserted outside law allowing the jury to conclude that Long violated Coast Guard Regulations and Maritime Laws when he hired a deckhand that BTB perceived was disabled. It transformed Long's protected activity into an illegal act and manufactured a legitimate motive for BTB's retaliation. It denied a fair trial to an employee who furthered the purpose of the WLAD by opposing the stereotypes the WLAD specifically seeks to stamp out.

This Court should accept review to remedy the errors of the lower courts and remand this case for a new trial. Petitioner requests fees pursuant to RCW 49.60.030 and RAP 18.1.

A. The Court of Appeals' Decision Conflicts with This Court's Holdings that when Jurors Inject Erroneous Extrinsic Law into Deliberations and Act as Legal Experts, Jury Misconduct Results

The Washington Constitution proclaims that the "[t]he right of trial by jury shall remain inviolate." Const. art. 1 § 21. "Juror misconduct involving the use of extraneous evidence during deliberations will entitle a party to a new trial if there are reasonable grounds to believe the party has been prejudiced." *Richards v. Overlake Hosp. Medical Center*, 59 Wn. App. 266, 273, 796 P.2d 737, 742 (1990). When reviewing a decision denying a motion for a new trial, the focus must be on whether the jury misconduct denied the moving party a fair trial. *Aluminum Co. of America* v. Aetna Cas. & Sur. Co., 140 Wn.2d 517, 537, 998 P.2d 856 (2000)

("*ALCOA*"). In cases involving the improper use of extrinsic evidence by a jury, "[a] new trial **must** be granted unless it can be concluded beyond a reasonable doubt that extrinsic evidence **did not** contribute to the verdict." *Richards* 59 Wn. App. at 273 (emphasis added). Here, the Court of Appeals failed to correctly apply this clear standard ignoring Washington precedent which holds that jurors commit misconduct requiring a new trail when outside and erroneous statements of law are injected into a case.

1. When a juror injects outside law into deliberations and ignores WPI 1.02 he usurps the role of the trial court and commits misconduct

"Each courtroom comes equipped with a 'legal expert,' called a judge, and it is his or her province alone to instruct the jury on the relevant legal standards." *State v. Clausing*, 147 Wn.2d 620, 628, 56 P.3d 550 (2002). Washington Constitution article IV, section 16, provides that the court "shall declare the law." Const. art. 4 § 16 . "For an expert to testify to the jury on the law usurps the role of the trial judge." *Clausing*, 147 Wn.2d at 628. WPI 1.02 codifies that the jury "must apply the law from my instructions" and must "accept the law as I explain it." WPI 1.02.

As such, where a juror inserts **outside law** into jury deliberations she usurps the role of the judge and commits misconduct requiring a new trial. The Court of Appeals' decision is contrary to WPI 1.02 and to *Clausing* and other Washington cases because it ignores the important distinction between a juror's opinion based on personal experiences, which may help interpret admitted evidence and legal opinions introducing **extrinsic and erroneous laws which are always improper and prejudicial**. When jurors act as legal experts, they commit misconduct.

Here, jurors injected outside law that made Long's decision to let Morgan work on a tug boat illegal. Juror 12 acted as a legal expert when he stated definitively that maritime and Coast Guard laws "simply do not allow people to crew boats and act as Able Bodied Seamen with prosthetics." Juror 11 similarly acted as an expert when he echoed, "yeah, that breaks Coast Guard law." They were not simply interpreting evidence based on personal background – they were acting as a legal expert, falsely instructing fellow jurors what laws apply when hiring disabled deckhands in a disability retaliation case.

2. <u>A juror's injection of outside law is always misconduct</u> requiring a new trial.

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