RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON Dec 05, 2014, 10:40 am BY RONALD R. CARPENTER CLERK

Supreme Court No. 90976-8

Court of Appeals No. 70529-6-I

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

BRIAN LONG,

Petitioner,

v.

BRUSCO TUG & BARGE, INC., a Washington corporation; BO BRUSCO and his marital community,

Respondents.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

Amanda T. Gamblin, WSBA #40698 Brian K. Keeley, WSBA #32121 Colin Folawn, WSBA #34211 Schwabe, Williamson & Wyatt, P.C. 1420 5th Avenue, Suite 3400 Seattle, WA 98101-4010 Telephone: 206.622.1711 Fax: 206.292.0460 Attorneys for Respondents, Brusco Tug & Barge, Inc., and Bo Brusco

I. IDENTITY OF RESPONDENT

Respondents Brusco Tug & Barge, Inc., and its Chief Executive Officer, Bo Brusco (collectively "Respondents"), who prevailed in a jury trial and before the Court of Appeals, answer the petition for review filed by Brian Long. Respondents do not raise any issues for review. This Court should deny the petition for review.

II. <u>COURT OF APPEALS DECISION</u>

Division I of the Washington Court of Appeals, in an unpublished opinion, applied existing Washington law and correctly affirmed the trial court's denial of Long's motion for a new trial. The opinion did not announce a new holding, clarify the law, or conflict with precedent.

The opinion does not raise any of the considerations for review under RAP 13.4(b). Therefore, the petition for review should be denied.

III. <u>COUNTER-STATEMENT OF LONG'S ISSUES</u> <u>PROPOSED FOR REVIEW</u>

Respondents re-frame the issues presented by Long, to more accurately track the opinion and the appellate standard of review:

1. Did the trial court permissibly exercise its discretion in denying Long's motion for a new trial based on alleged jury misconduct where the purported extrinsic evidence inhered in the verdict? <u>Yes</u>.

2. Did the trial court permissibly exercise its discretion in denying Long's motion for a new trial based on alleged jury misconduct

where the purported extrinsic evidence was irrelevant to any issue before the jury and therefore could not have affected the verdict? <u>Yes</u>.

IV. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This case involved a single claim for unlawful employment retaliation under the Washington Law Against Discrimination. Appellant Brian Long ("Long") sued his former employer Brusco Tug & Barge, Inc. ("Brusco"), and its Chief Executive Officer, Bo Brusco, for money damages after Long was reassigned to a new position. After a two-and-ahalf-week trial and two days of deliberations, the jury returned a defense verdict because Long failed to meet his burden of proof as to liability. CP 1764-65.

The trial had been about one issue: whether Brusco retaliated against Long for opposing what Long reasonably believed to be discrimination on the basis of a disability when Long attempted to hire Anthony Morgan. After the jury returned a complete defense verdict, Long moved for a new trial, arguing, *inter alia*, that a juror had introduced "extrinsic evidence" that affected the jury's verdict. CP 1768–79. The Honorable William Downing denied Long's motion for a new trial. Long appealed that decision to the Court of Appeals, which in an unpublished opinion affirmed Judge Downing's permissible exercise of discretion. In doing so, the Court of Appeals followed—and did not change or extendWashington law.

There was no juror misconduct. Even if there were, the verdict was not affected. The petition should be denied, and the verdict should stand.

V. <u>COUNTER-STATEMENT OF THE CASE</u>

A. Facts at trial

Brusco provides tugboat services to many ports on the Pacific Coast, including the Port at Everett, Washington. RP 1289–92, 1295, 1475–76, and 1479–81. Long had been Brusco's port manager at the Port of Everett. RP 1546. In that role, he had several managerial duties, one of which was to ensure that two tug boats and crews were always available to assist a ship coming into port. RP 1312–13. He was also responsible for captaining one of two tugboats that Brusco used in the Port of Everett. RP 1483, 1485, and 1513–14.

In December 2009, Long abandoned his post to go on an unapproved vacation that put him in Long Beach, Washington, four and a half hours away from the Port of Everett, despite knowing that (1) a ship was scheduled to come into port while he was away and (2) he was expected to captain a second tugboat to assist the ship, if necessary. RP 1344–47, 1585–95, and 2009–35. Long had been told earlier that if he wanted to take such a vacation, he would have to arrange it with his immediate boss, Kevin Campbell, or with the CEO, Bo Brusco. RP 1585– 86. In this instance, Long did neither. Instead, he presumed that (1) the incoming ship would not require a second tug to assist it (one tug was already available) and, therefore, (2) no one at Brusco's main office would know that he was gone. RP 2019–20.

Contrary to Long's assumption, the ship, Westwood Shipping, Inc.'s M/V SEVILLA, called for a second tug to assist its entry into the port. RP 2021, 2027. John Juker, who was Long's second-in-command, attempted to contact Long, who missed the call because he was out jogging. RP 2027–28. After learning of the situation, Long attempted to find coverage. RP 2027–30. In the meantime, Juker located David Brusco, a fully qualified ship assist tug skipper who was Bo Brusco's son, the former port manager at the Port of Everett, and Long's predecessor in that position. RP 2027–30. David Brusco happened to be only twenty minutes away, so he dropped everything, drove to the Port of Everett, and captained the second tugboat that assisted the M/V SEVILLA safely in. RP 1854–56 and 2021–35.

As soon as Bo Brusco discovered that Long was four and a half hours away when a ship called for the assistance of a second tug, he told Brusco's Chief Operating Officer Dave Callantine and its Compliance Manager Dan Zandell to "get him out of Everett!" RP 915–17. Callantine and Zandell telephoned Kevin Campbell, who in turn telephoned Long. RP 1586–95. Campbell told Long that he was relieved from his position at the Port of Everett. RP 1592–93.

That same day, Long and Campbell spoke again. RP 1594–95. Campbell offered Long a reassignment as a captain in Brusco's ocean division. RP 1594–95. Long had been a successful ocean captain before taking the job of port manager for the Port of Everett. RP 1348–49. Long never responded to this offer. Brusco attempted to get Long to accept the ocean job several more times over the next six days, but Long did not accept the position or return to work. RP 1617–43.

Instead, Long sued Brusco and Bo Brusco and alleged that the reassignment (or "termination," as Long preferred to describe it) was in retaliation for Long's involvement—months earlier—in hiring a deckhand with a prosthetic leg named Anthony Morgan. CP 1–8. Long lost at trial.

B. In deliberations, the jurors discussed life experiences that were not pertinent to the issues in the case.

After losing at trial, Long sought a new trial and filed declarations from four of the twelve jurors in an attempt to establish juror misconduct. CP 1768–92. After receiving briefing from the parties and reviewing the record, the trial court concluded that the declarations did not establish misconduct that affected the verdict. CP 1945–50.

The declarations mentioned (1) the status of jury deliberations at certain points in time (CP 1780, 1782, and 1784); (2) some jurors'

thoughts and feelings regarding deliberations and the desire to review notes and exhibits (CP 1781–82, 1784–86, and 1791); (3) thoughts and feelings about a speech or presentation reportedly made by juror David Wlaschin, during which he relied on notes and spoke forcefully for between twenty and thirty minutes (CP 1781, 1784–85, 1788, and 1791); (4) partial summaries of what Mr. Wlaschin said, including that he was in the Navy, the waters were rough, there were ladders and slippery decks, and his belief that Navy/ocean/maritime law would not allow one with a prosthesis to work on deck (CP 1781, 1784, 1788–89, and 1791); (5) juror reactions to Mr. Wlaschin's monologue (CP 1781–82, 1785, and 1791); and (6) other irrelevant issues.

As to Mr. Wlaschin's life experience and personal beliefs, Juror 2 stated as follows: "[Juror 12] talked about knowing Navy laws, and that none of the Coast Guard/Ocean/Maritime laws would allow anyone with prosthesis to work on the deck of a ship or boat." CP 1781. Juror 2 said about another juror's statements, "I *think* that he said: 'yeah, that breaks Coast Guard law."" *Id.* (emphasis added).

Juror 7 made a similar declaration about Juror 12 mentioning an absence of law: "[Juror 12] talked at length about maritime laws, navy [sic] rules and repeated multiple times that **no laws existed** that would allow a deckhand with a prosthetic leg to be on a boat." CP 1784

(emphasis added). The thrust of Juror 6's declaration was also that Juror 12 referred to an *absence* of law to allow a person with a prosthetic leg to serve as a deckhand:

> [Juror 12] started by telling us that he had spent many years on ships and in the U.S. Navy and knew about the law, and about boats, and about safety. He said that **he did not know of any law** on the books including the Coast Guard laws that would every [sic] let someone work as a deckhand on a boat. He said that these laws simply **do not allow** people to crew boats and act as Able Bodied Seamen with prosthetics. He knew from serving on ships that boats are very dangerous, and that someone like Anthony Morgan should not be on a boat by law. The point he emphasized the most, and he was very well organized, authoritative was that **there were no laws** that would have allowed Morgan on board as a deckhand. He was very convincing and had a command of marine safety and the laws that govern them.

CP 1788 (emphasis added).

Juror 1's declaration did not indicate that Mr. Wlaschin made a

statement of law but rather that the Navy would not allow someone with a

prosthetic leg to work on the deck of a ship:

[Juror 12] mentioned that he spent many years in the Navy and is quite familiar with the laws of the organization and stated that **there would be no way that the Navy (or other maritime organizations such as the Coast Guard)** would have let a man with a prosthetic leg work on the deck of a ship.

•••

[Another juror] agreed and bolstered the point by adding what seemed to be a confirmation about Coast Guard law and then applied his experience in construction

CP 1791 (emphasis added).

During voir dire, Mr. Wlaschin had openly disclosed that he was "retired from the U.S. Navy." RP 172. In addition, he disclosed that he retired from a power generation business in sales. *Id.* He further disclosed that his activities include, *inter alia*, boating on Puget Sound. *Id.* Long's counsel chose to ask no questions to determine the extent of Mr. Wlaschin's naval experience. RP 176–93, 213–29.

In ruling upon Long's motion for a new trial, the trial court correctly examined the context of the case and the issues that were then at hand (in addition to others not raised in this appeal). CP 1945–49. The trial court then noted that the declarations mostly addressed the deliberative process, explaining as follows:

Most of what has been put before the Court concerns the jury's deliberative process behind closed doors and a proper respect for the jurors and for the jury system precludes the Court from considering it. The one thing that potentially stands out is the assertion that a juror may have inserted into the discussions *a personal belief*, based on his experience that Coast Guard regulations would not permit a man with a prosthetic leg to work on a vessel.

CP 1949 (emphasis added). The trial court then concluded that Mr.

Wlaschin's personal belief related solely to a non-issue:

Regardless of whether one stretches to call this an insertion of outside facts or law into the deliberations, it is clear it only related to the non-issue of whether or not Mr. Morgan was actually discriminated against and not to those matters that were in issue.

Id. The trial court expressly concluded "that there was no jury misconduct resulting in outside information being put before the jury and affecting the verdict." CP 1950. The record supports this analysis.

VI. <u>ARGUMENT AND AUTHORITY AS TO WHY</u> <u>REVIEW SHOULD NOT BE ACCEPTED</u>

The petition raises all four standards for review under RAP 13.4(b), but it satisfies none of them. The petition raises no novel issue, seeks no change in the law, and establishes no conflict of decisions. There is no reason for this Court to review Judge Downing's discretionary decision to deny a motion for a new trial where no juror misconduct affected the verdict. The controlling law is already well established.

A. Long has failed to satisfy any of the considerations that govern acceptance of review.

Long's petition fails to meet the standards under RAP 13.4. Instead, perhaps in tacit recognition that the Court of Appeals followed and applied existing Washington precedent, Long attempts to re-argue the same points that were raised to the Court of Appeals.

This Court will not accept review of a matter unless one of the following four conditions is met:

(1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals; or

(3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or

(4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

RAP 13.4(b). This case involves none of these. Moreover, the case law is well developed. Review would not enhance the development of the law,

but would merely involve this Court in a needless exercise.

B. <u>The unpublished opinion does not conflict with a</u> <u>decision of the Washington Supreme Court or</u> <u>Washington Court of Appeals.</u>

The Court of Appeals cited, discussed, and followed the same cases that the parties addressed on appeal. The Court of Appeals did not change, extend, narrow, or clarify the law. It simply applied the law to the facts of the case. There is no conflict under RAP 13.4(b)(1)–(2).

1. Judge Downing permissibly exercised his discretion and denied Long's motion for a new trial.

A trial court's decision whether to grant a new trial is reviewed only for abuse of discretion. *E.g.*, *Hill v. GTE Directories Sales Corp.*, 71 Wn. App. 132, 140, 856 P.2d 746 (1993). This deferential standard applies to motions based upon alleged juror misconduct: "Initially, with regard to the claims of juror misconduct, it must be noted that a decision of whether the alleged misconduct exists, whether it is prejudicial and whether a mistrial is declared are all matters for the discretion of the trial court." *Richards v. Overlake Hosp. Med. Ctr.*, 59 Wn. App. 266, 271, 796 P.2d 737 (1990). Even if misconduct is found, "great deference is due the trial court's determination that no prejudice occurred." *Id.*

A trial court does not abuse its discretion unless its decision is manifestly unreasonable or exercised on untenable grounds or for untenable reasons. *Id.* A verdict cannot be impeached without a "strong, affirmative showing of juror misconduct[.]" *Id.*

2. No juror misconduct affected the verdict.

To determine whether juror conduct warrants a new trial, a court must determine (1) whether the juror interjected new or novel extrinsic evidence so as to constitute misconduct and, if so, (2) whether such misconduct affected the verdict. *E.g.*, *Richards*, 59 Wn. App. at 270. Long does not seek to change or refine this showing, but only to have this Court apply this law to the facts of his case in the hope of obtaining a different outcome. That hope is in vain, especially in light of the deferential standard of review. The record does not warrant a new trial.

"A strong, affirmative showing of misconduct is necessary in order to overcome the policy favoring stable and certain verdicts and the secret, frank and free discussion of the evidence by the jury." *Breckenridge v.* *Valley Gen. Hosp.*, 150 Wn.2d 197, 203, 75 P.3d 944 (2003) (internal quotation marks and citation omitted). In this case, no alleged juror misconduct could have affected the verdict, because any alleged misconduct did not relate to any issue before the jury.

A juror who injects extrinsic evidence that is outside the record and that affects the verdict commits misconduct. Breckenridge, 150 Wn.2d at 199 n.3; Richards, 59 Wn. App. at 270, 272-73. When a juror actually reviews pre-printed material regarding laws, like Black's Law Dictionary or a pre-printed pamphlet regarding forest protection laws, the trial court is within its discretion to grant a new trial. See Adkins v. ALCOA, 110 Wn.2d 128, 131-32, 135-38, 750 P.2d 1257 (1988); and Bouton-Perkins Lumber Co. v. Huston, 81 Wash. 678, 681-84, 143 P. 146 (1914). But a juror's reliance on personal life experience in evaluating the evidence does not inject "extrinsic evidence" into deliberations, especially when those life experiences are disclosed in voir dire. Breckenridge, 150 Wn.2d at 199, 204-05; Richards, 59 Wn. App. at 273-74. And jurors expressing opinions based on life experience and the admitted evidence do not inject "extrinsic evidence" into jury deliberations. See Richards, 59 Wn. App. at 272-73. For example, a new trial is not warranted when a juror who had some medical training made statements to other jurors about her interpretation of medical records in evidence. Id.

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